Project Dissertation Report on

Perception towards Femvertising: Always #LikeAGirl Campaign

Submitted By

Sakshi Jain

2K19/DMBA/82

Under the Guidance of

Shri Dhiraj Kumar Pal Delhi School of Management



DELHI SCHOOL OF MANAGEMENT

Delhi Technological University

Bawana Road Delhi 110042

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the work titled **'Perception towards Femvertising: Always #LikeAGirl Campaign'** as part of the final year Major Research Project submitted by Sakshi Jain in the 4th Semester of MBA, Delhi School of Management, Delhi Technological University during January-May 2021 is her original work and has not been submitted anywhere else for the award of any credits/ degree whatsoever.

The project is submitted to Delhi School of Management, Delhi Technological University in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the award of the degree of Master of Business Administration.

Shri Dhiraj Kumar Pal

Dr. Archana Singh

Faculty Advisor

Head of Department (DSM, DTU)

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the work titled **'Perception towards Femvertising: Always #LikeAGirl Campaign'** as part of the final year Major Research Project submitted by me in the 4th Semester of MBA, Delhi School of Management, Delhi Technological University, during January-May 2021 under the guidance of Shri Dhiraj Kumar Pal is my original work and has not been submitted anywhere else.

The report has been written by me in my own words and not copied from elsewhere. Anything that appears in this report which is not my original work has been duly and appropriately referred/ cited/ acknowledged.

Sakshi Jain

Sakshi Jain (2K19/DMBA/82)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The research opportunity, I had through this study, was a great chance for learning and professional development. Therefore, I consider myself grateful enough to be provided with an opportunity being a part of my MBA course. I am also obliged to get a chance to learn about the work of so many experienced professionals.

I am using this opportunity to express my deepest gratitude and special thanks to my faculty guide, Shri Dhiraj Kumar Pal, Assistant Professor, DSM, who in spite of being extraordinarily busy with his duties, took time out to hear, guide and keep me on the correct path and allowing me to carry out my research in this domain and extending his inputs during the study.

I express my deepest thanks to Dr Deep Shree, faculty in-charge of the course of Consumer Behavior, DSM for taking part in useful decision & giving necessary advice and guidance and providing all related resources making the completion of study feasible.

It is my radiant sentiment to place on record my best regards, deepest sense of gratitude to all the respondents, for expressing their opinions and perception freely, which were extremely critical for making a strong research foundation as well as practical application.

I perceive this opportunity as a benchmark in my career enhancement. I will strive to apply these skills and knowledge gathered and I will continue to work towards their enhancement, in order to achieve my ultimate career goal.

Sincerely, Sakshi Jain Sakshi Jain

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The research throws light on how people perceive the female empowerment advertising, also known as femvertising. It takes into consideration one instance of such advertising, i.e., Always #LikeAGirl campaign. It is one of the most successful femvertising campaigns which had generated a lot of attention towards the use of phrase 'Like A Girl' in a derogatory manner.

Purpose

The purpose of the study was to collect useful insights about the opinions of different sections of society about femvertising through the always campaign. It also intends to highlight the role of femvertising message in forming this perception. The study also tries to capture the attitude change in the society which can be brought out by such campaigns. Also, it aims to find out the need of such campaigns for empowerment of males. It tries to build a relationship between the company and femvertising cause for which it is advertising. Lastly, it shows the impact of such campaigns on the purchase intent of products of the company.

Approach

Firstly, literature review has been conducted to study the previous research work and resources available in this domain. Afterwards, the descriptive research methodology has been followed, consisting of collection of primary data from the respondents of different age groups, gender and occupation. A questionnaire has been prepared including the Always #LikeAGirl campaign video and a set of questions to check their perception towards this campaign. The data collected through the questionnaire has been analyzed and presented in form of charts to highlight the opinion of majority of people about each facet of the research.

In order to create different pie-charts data visualization tool, PowerBI has been used. Also, Microsoft Excel has been used for data cleaning and preparation. The results of analysis have been presented in form of these visualizations.

Findings

The research shows that people generally view the femvertising messages in a positive light. Yet, they feel the need of similar advertisement for males. Also, people expect some amount of attitude change in the society through these ads and the company cause fit plays a vital role in success of these campaigns. Also, these campaigns are quite effective in improving the brand image of the company but not really effective in enhancing the purchase intent of products of the company.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Certificatei
Declarationii
Acknowledgementiii
Executive Summaryiv
Table of Contentsvi
List of Figuresix
1. Introduction1
1.1. Background 1
1.2. Problem Statement
1.3. Objectives of the study2
1.4. Scope of the study 2
2. Literature Review
2.1. Femvertising
2.2. The Company
2.3. The Campaign
2.3.1. Goal
2.3.2. Execution

2.3.3. Various Modes of Campaign
2.3.4. Success of the campaign 6
2.4. Perception of femvertising7
2.4.1. Femvertising Messages7
2.4.2. Company Cause Fit
2.4.3. Attitude change through femvertising
2.4.4. Impact on Purchase Intent
3. Research Methodology10
3.1. Descriptive Research10
3.2. Questionnaire
3.3. Tool Used11
4. Research Analysis and Discussion12
4.1. Data & Sample12
4.2. Results of Study 14
4.2.1. Femvertising Messages14
4.2.2. Company Cause Fit16
4.2.3. Attitude change through Femvertising18
4.2.4. Impact on purchase intent
4.3. Recommendations

4.4. Limitations of the study	22
6. Conclusion	24
References	26
Appendix 1	34
Appendix 2	35

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Drop in confidence of young children at the time of puberty
Figure 4.1. Gender of Respondents12
Figure 4.2. Occupation of Respondents13
Figure 4.3. Age of Respondents
Figure 4.4. Likeability of the Always Ad14
Figure 4.5. Reasons for liking the ad15
Figure 4.6. Reasons for not liking the ad15
Figure 4.7. Need of such ads for male empowerment
Figure 4.8. Awareness about the brand17
Figure 4.9. Impact of Dove, if it makes a similar ad17
Fig. 4.10. Impact of Toyota/Hyundai, if they make a similar ad18
Figure 4.11. Whether the Always ad is impactful
Figure 4.12. Impact of ad on the respondent19
Figure 4.13. Impact of ad on the society19
Figure 4.14. Use of phrase 'Like A Girl'
Figure 4.15. Whether Always brand is actually concerned about the young girls20
Figure 4.16. Whether the ad has increased the purchase intent of the product
Exihibit 1 Dove Campaign for Real Beauty

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

There have been a lot of femvertising campaigns which have garnered the attention of millions of people because of their powerful female empowerment message. This study is concerned about one of such campaigns, Always #LikeAGirl campaign.

1.1 Background

The study revolves around how people perceive the femvertising campaigns, which are quite ubiquitous these days with most brands trying hard to lure consumers through this tactic. The campaign which has been used for this study is the acclaimed 'Always #LikeAGirl Campaign', launched in 2013. This is one of most prominent examples of femvertising as it became successful soon after it was rolled out. This is a descriptive study which accumulated the various ways in which people reacted to this campaign and how they think about femvertising in general. It is evident that the advertisers should be mindful of few things before going for femvertising on purchase intent.

Femvertising is a term used for female empowerment advertising which forms a major part of comprehensive advertising. There have been a lot of viral campaigns involving femvertising including Dove Real Beauty Campaign, Always Like A girl campaign and many more. This study focuses on Always #LikeAGirl campaign which garnered mass traction because of the female empowerment message communicated so loud and clear. The campaign was mainly targeted towards young girls as their self confidence drops abysmally low at the time of puberty. The phrase 'Like A Girl' plugged into every activity which they perform, is belittling and disparaging. Thus, the campaign was conceived to discard the existing meaning of 'Like A Girl' and give it a novel meaning, which is empowering and encouraging.

1.2 Problem Statement

The study takes into account one of the marquee femvertising campaigns and intends to find out the impact of femvertising on people and whether this impact is same for both males and females. Also, it aims to study the role of company and its brand image in formation of this perception towards femvertising, i.e., whether every company can be effective in femvertising. It also tries to figure out whether there is any attitude change in the audience after being exposed to such messages and these messages are capable to bring some actual change in the society. Finally, it intends to capture the impact on purchase intent of product being advertised and changed perception towards brand, if any.

1.3 Objectives of the study

The study consists of following objectives:

- To study how people perceive femvertising messages
- To figure out the role of company cause fit in femvertising
- To find out whether there is any attitude change in people after being exposed to femvertising
- To study the impact of femvertising on the purchase intent of the product

1.4 Scope of the study

The study throws light on Always femvertising campaign, #LikeAGirl campaign, which is one of the significant examples of femvertising. It is a really successful campaign, which is being considered in this research. Yet, they are many failed attempts at femvertising, like that of Verizon, which is left out in this study. Also, there are around 100 respondents, whose perception and opinions were captured in this research. Majority of the respondents were between 20-40 years of age and are students. Thus, the scope of this study consists of research on Always #LikeAGirl campaign with a limited number of respondents.

Chapter 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Femvertising

Femvertising is a term used for a type of advertising, which makes use of pro-female talent, messages, and imagery in order to achieve empowerment of women and girls, along with appealing to female consumers. The term was coined by Samantha Skey, the chief revenue and marketing officer of SHE Media which is a digital media company involved in creating interesting content. This advertising practice aims to highlight the changing role of women in modern society, and promotion of gender equality in order to cater to varying shopping patterns.

Advertisers are critical about the notion that the present day women are not only financially independent but also great influencers when it comes to purchase decisions of the family. So, advertisers do not want to objectify them which will ultimately alienate them as consumers. Hence, they need to engage with the female audience in order to attract them to buy the products and services. Also, Femvertising encourage a type of activism by allowing people to participate and contribute their ideas. There are several brands which have used the female empowerment advertising strategy such that they have been successful in driving huge sales. This is a politically as well as culturally conscious mode of advertising, committed to gender equality. It also fits into the corporate social responsibility bracket of business by becoming an advocate for women publically.

2.2 The Company

Always is an American brand of Proctor & Gamble which deals in various products of menstrual hygiene such as sanitary pads, vaginal wipes, and other related products. It was founded in May 1984 in United States and later across the world. It is named as Whisper in some countries like Japan, India, Singapore, China, South Korea, Philippines, Thailand, and many more. Always has

served the ageing women, women who need guidance on parenthood, women who belong to the menopause category along with the young girls.

The company's core values depict the objective of unleashing girl's and women's confidence. It has been playing a vital role in this direction for around 35 years through puberty and confidence education. The program provides young girls with free educational resources and sample to cope up with the changes during puberty. It has also partnered with TED to develop TED-ED educational videos. They have held Always #LikeAGirl Confidence summit in July, 2015 and gave shape to new Always Confidence Teaching curriculum. The company is constantly working in this direction to educate more and more girls.

2.3 The Campaign

2.3.1 Goal

The 'Like a girl campaign' is one of the most prominent example of a successful femvertising campaigns such that it had won 2015 Emmy Award for outstanding commercial. This brainchild of Leo Burnett advertising agency was also aired during Super Bowl XLIX where it proved to be a huge attraction. Female confidence has been the nucleus of the company's brand equity such that they have always tried to enhance women's confidence by their physical product. But, this time, they adopted a more emotional approach to do this job.

Thus, the idea behind this campaign was to cater to dwindling girls's confidence during puberty through a sensitive communication as they tend to lose maximum confidence around their first period. The statistics highlight that this measure is twice as of that of boys. A number of factors contribute to this, including the use of gender stereotypical phrases such as 'Like a girl' to insult them. This phrase implied that power, leadership, and strength have no bearing with females and further devastate the self identities of the young girls. The company wanted to turn this insult into an inspiration by leveraging the brand's legacy of supporting girls. Thus, they came up with this campaign with an agenda to empower girls during their important life phase by using 'Like a girl' as their message of empowerment.



Fig. 2.1, Drop in confidence of young children at the time of puberty
Source: 'Global Self-Esteem across the Life Span' Study, American Psychological Association, Inc., 2002, Vol 17, No.3, 423-434

2.3.2 Execution

The spotlight of the campaign was a video which captured the interpretation of the phrase 'Like a Girl' by different parts of society. The video, directed by an award winning documentarian Lauren Greenfield, showed people of different ages being asked to perform various activities like running, and throwing a ball 'like a girl'. It showed stark contrast between the interpretation of the phrase by prepubescent girls and adults. While young girls tried to put their best foot forward, adults were clumsy, silly, self-deprecating, and awkward. It highlighted that the phrase means weakness and vanity among adults while for young girls, who had not been influenced by

the 'rules of womanhood' were confident and full of self-belief. The video concluded with the motivation for all the people to change this perception and try seeing this phrase in a much positive light.

2.3.3 Various modes of campaign

There was introduction of a unique hashtag, #LikeAGirl, on social media handles of always such that women across the world used this hashtag to share some inspiring things which they did 'Like a Girl'. Prior to the video launch through PR event, the video was shared on always' Youtube channel along with promoting it through social media influencers and bloggers. The traditional media was also used to spread the awareness about this female empowerment movement. Some famous celebrities like Vanessa Hudgens and Bella Thorne were involved for twitter promotion and better reach of target audience. There was real time engagement and responses on #LikeAGirl conversations on social media. After the initial promotion in North America, the campaign was expanded to cater global audience.

2.3.4 Success of the campaign

The 'Like a girl video' became one of most popular viral videos in 2014 across internet. It gathered 74 million YouTube views from 150 countries, 4.5 billion impressions across globe, more than 1880 earned media placements, 290 million social impressions, 133 thousand social mentions, trended on Facebook and increased Always' twitter followers by 195.3%. The campaign received a positive response from millions of viewers. About 70 per cent of women and 60 per cent of men claimed that #LikeAGirl video changed their perception of the phrase, 'like a girl'. 53 per cent of reach was amongst women 13-34 years old in the US. There were about 1,77,000 #LikeAGirl tweets in the first 3 months, including many celebrities. It was ranked most popular digital campaign of the Super Bowl. This campaign served the opportunity to the women to engage in conversations around the topic.

This commercial reached many people and the boys admitted that they used to mock the girls by saying 'like a girl'. They think that women cannot run fast, can't hit hard and many activities

which involve physical strength. But this commercial had changed their perception and encouraged them to stand by the women. They will not mock them anymore and will not restrict them to do things which they like to do in their own way. Some girls believe that 'like a girl' can be a good thing. They do not take this phrase 'like a girl' as an insult. They feel proud of themselves for being a girl. The Equity of the Always pad increased from 38.1 to 41.4 in the US. It was claimed that the company sales increased many folds post-campaign. The company suggests that 76% of girls now have positive association with the phrase 'Like A Girl', positive sentiment regarding this phrase reached 96% in just three months and purchase intent grew by more than 50% among the target consumers.

2.4 Perception of Femvertising

2.4.1 Femvertising messages

It is seen that many adults love the female empowerment messages, but generally they do not necessarily support for the products or the company itself. Many females admitted that such kind of empowerment commercials encourage them and help to build a positive attitude towards the life. They also think that impact of these ads would be strong if their parents were made to watch it. Parents can learn from these commercials how to break the stereotypes and encourage their daughters to be who they are.

Majority of participants saw the positive side of the femvertising. However, some of the males disagree to this, as they think that companies are biased. Companies never try to develop the self-confidence in males. With Dove, it is usually females trying to gain the self-confidence. Indeed, men also suffer from plenty of self-doubts. Many people believe that these commercials are contrived. Many of the people saw femvertising as a concealing cover that attempt to start a movement but there is more possibility that these companies are taking advantage of such advertising to solidify their brands and thus increasing their sales and profits. Many companies are supporting women empowerment because other companies are doing it. They are moving with the trend rather than supporting it genuinely.

2.4.2 Company Cause Fit

Majority of the people also observed that brands that deal in products related to women are more successful and look genuine when promoted through femvertising. Hence, the commercials which lack fit between message and product are not much impactful. Brands that are not women centric may face issues regarding the fit between the product and the message. For example Verizon commercial "Inspire her mind" faced criticism for not being exactly delivering the right message to the consumers. The commercial showing the girls, at young age, may like math and science, but how they are treated by their parents and loved ones since their childhood may discourage them from pursuing careers in engineering, science, and technology. Many people were confused as they did not exactly relate to the commercial. They said that the commercial was not clear or confusing when it comes to deliver the message as how it is empowering the women and how it was related to the company.

Unlike the Always, in the Verizon's message, neither the company nor the product was featured to a great degree. So, it is clear from this commercial that companies catering to male or unisex audiences should have the image of the company in mind before making an advertisement. These companies should use the strategy which are proven and should try not to fully dependent on femvertising as this can hurt the image of the brand.

2.4.3 Attitude change through femvertising

Males claimed that the advertisements made them think but the overall attitude towards women and the product or company does not change as a result of their exposure to femvertising message. Many people also believe that it is not easy to grab the attention of the audience in just 20 seconds. People are not going to think passionately about the need to tackle these social issues in just few seconds. They are simply watching TV.

However, many people believe that our words can have huge impact to the society such that these ads can be helpful in changing the attitude of men towards women. This can have a huge impact on specifically those males who have younger sisters. Our words can encourage women to love themselves and pursue what they want to. These ads can inspire their mind and can give a different direction to think about themselves. To some extent these kind of advertisements can bring change into the society. Women think that advertisements can bring change in the attitude of men towards women. Specifically, the ads which are celebrating women's empowerment would make men respect women more.

2.4.4 Impact on purchase intent

The femvertising does not play a huge role in increasing the purchase intent of a product, though it generally tries to put the brand in positive light. Some people also feel that these pro-social messages fail to provide the basic product information to the customers, thus making no effect on the purchase intent. People may admire the brand for their contribution towards the society, but they do not actually buy the product every time. Some people tend to satisfy their need for information before purchasing any product. Femvertising generally fails to fulfill this need and has little impact on purchase intent of these people.

Chapter 3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The study is a descriptive research work consisting of collection of responses of people through questionnaire. On the basis of research framework required, we can say that descriptive research is most suitable in this case which would include the description of all the data collected through questionnaire and finding out useful insights out of that data, which would help in describing the perception of femvertising among people. The research consists of some major steps for the complete research design including discussion of theory, collection of data, implementing the research framework and deducing some conclusions. The literature review above has already covered the theory behind femvertising and its perception among people. In the following discussion, the remaining steps of research would be conducted.

3.1 Descriptive Research

This type of research is primarily concerned with describing the independent and dependent variables involved in the study. It consists of explaining the various characteristics of population without getting into the reason of certain happenings. There are various parameters of this type of research including its nature, type of variables and future research foundation. In this case, the researcher is primarily involved in a qualitative research consisting of statistical analysis of various population parameters as well as demographic segment. In this case, the nature of variables is uncontrolled such that it is not being influenced by other variables. It is generally a cross-sectional study which forms the basis of future research.

3.2 Questionnaire

The questionnaire consists of different sections collecting information about various aspects of the study. First section is the demographic details section, which collects information about the gender, age and occupation of the respondents. All this information is important because perception of people vary according to the gender, age as well as occupation. Males and females generally have different viewpoints regarding the various societal issues. Similarly, people of different age think differently because of their viewpoints being influenced by their peers.

Another section of questionnaire captures the viewpoint of people regarding the femvertising message of the Always campaign i.e., the use of phrase 'Like A Girl' in a derogatory manner. Next section highlights the importance of company cause fit for such kind of campaigns by taking into consideration other brands like Dove, Toyota and Hyundai. Also, the questionnaire tries to cater to the attitude change brought in by the campaign in the respondent as well as the expected change in the society in the long run. Lastly, it inquires the respondents about the impact of such campaigns on the purchase intent of the people and brand image of Always.

3.3 Tool Used

I have majorly used two tools for this study i.e., Microsoft Excel and Microsoft PowerBI. Excel has been used for basic data preparation, including cleaning the data to check for null values, missing values and duplicate values. It is one of most widely used tool for purpose of data storage and cleaning before it is used for analysis. It has got many built-in formulas and functions which are highly useful in understanding the nature of data.

Another tool which has been used in this research for data visualization is Microsoft PowerBI. It is one of the most popular data visualization tool, used by the companies all over the globe. It provides interactive visualizations through a facile interface which is quite easy to learn. It provides variety of features including PowerQuery, which is an ETL tool for step by step preparation of data into usable form. The tool has been used for generation of all the pie-charts shown in the Research Analysis and Discussion section below.

Chapter 4

RESEARCH ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Data and Sample

The data used for this research is the primary data collected through questionnaire. In order to interpret the primary data, a set of different plots like bar charts and pie charts would be used. The group of respondents consists of around 100 people from different occupational backgrounds, age groups and gender. In order to ensure that the research results are precise, we have to check for reliability of data by adding a lot of similar questions, which would evaluate the seriousness of respondents while filling out the questionnaire (**Appendix A**). Also, the data collected would only be used for ethical purposes such that it would remain confidential with the researcher and not be shared with any third party.



Fig. 4.1, Gender of Respondents

Source: Own Analysis – Generated through PowerBI using gender data

The respondents consisted of 51% males and 49% females, out of which around 62% are students, 27% are IT professionals, 4% are business owners, 4% are teachers and remaining are

homemakers. Most of them belong to an age bracket of 20-30 years, such that around 86% of people belonged to this bracket and the remaining 14% belonged to different age groups of 10-20 years, 30-40 years, 40-50 years and above 50 years.



Fig. 4.2, Occupation of Respondents

Source: Own Analysis - Generated through PowerBI using occupation data



Fig. 4.3, Age of Respondents

Source: Own Analysis - Generated through PowerBI using age data

4.2 Results of the study

The results of study can be depicted with the help of different plots highlighting the perception of people towards femvertising. We have four different sections of questionnaire to understand how people look at femvertising in general, what kind of change it can bring in the society, the role of company cause fit and impact of femvertising on purchase intent of people. We will take into consideration each of these factors one by one.

4.2.1. Femvertising messages

When the respondents were asked about whether they liked the Always #LikeAGirl ad campaign, around 80 % of people responded with 'Yes, a lot' while 17.35% people found it to be an average ad.



Fig. 4.4, Likeability of the Always Ad

Source: Own Analysis – Generated through PowerBI using questionnaire data





Source: Own Analysis - Generated through PowerBI using questionnaire data

Also, when asked about what people like most about the ad, around 23% people liked its female empowerment message and 53% people liked the fact that it is trying to bring a change in the society. When asked about the reason for disliking the ad, around 78% people said that they actually liked the ad.







Fig.4.7, Need of such ads for male empowerment **Source**: Own Analysis – Generated through PowerBI using questionnaire data

Also, around 70% people think that we need such ads for empowerment of males and this kind of advertising must not be limited to only females.

4.2.2. Company Cause fit

The respondents were asked whether they have heard about the brand before and it was found out that around 64% people have heard about the brand Always before (called as 'Whisper' in India).

Also, they were asked about that what do they think about some other brands like Dove, Toyota and Hyundai making femvertising ads and the impact of their ads as compared to the Always ad. Majority of respondents i.e., 65% of them think that Dove ad would have more or less the same impact as the Always ad while 46% of them think that Toyota/Hyundai would have less impact as compared to the Always ad.







Fig. 4.9, Impact of Dove, if it makes a similar ad **Source**: Own Analysis – Generated through PowerBI using questionnaire data





4.2.3. Attitude change through Femvertising

Next, the impact of ad on the respondents is checked through a variety of questions and it was found out that the ad had an impact on around 85% of the respondents.



Fig. 4.11, Whether the Always ad is impactful **Source**: Own Analysis – Generated through PowerBI using questionnaire data

In order to check for the kind of impact and attitude change brought through the ad, the respondents were asked about their feeling after watching the ad and majority of them i.e., 74 % of them thinks that whatever shown in the ad is absolutely true and we are somewhere wrong. Also, around 63% of them think that the ad can bring a slight attitude change in the society while 32 % of them think that the ad is capable of bringing a huge positive change in the society. Additionally, 56% of people think that the phrase 'Like A Girl' is used in a derogatory manner which is outright wrong.



Fig. 4.12, Impact of ad on the respondent

Source: Own Analysis - Generated through PowerBI using questionnaire data







Fig. 4.14, Use of phrase 'Like A Girl' **Source**: Own Analysis – Generated through PowerBI using questionnaire data

4.2.4. Impact on Purchase Intent

Lastly, in order to check the impact of ad on the brand image of Always and purchase intent towards their products, people were asked if they think that Always brand is actually concerned for young girls. Majority of the respondents, around 72% think positive about the brand and consider the brand to be actually concerned about the young girls.





Also, people were asked if they are more likely to buy products from Always after watching this ad. Around 52% of the people think that they are not likely to buy the product because of this ad.





4.3 Recommendations

The research can be used by future advertisers to draw these useful implications. The femvertising messages should be creative and consistent with the core business values of the company in order to make an impact on the consumers. The companies should also take care of the messages being floated by other subsidiaries such that there is no contradiction in the depiction of women in different contexts. Also, they should not merely promote female empowerment but also practice the same at organization level by bringing changes in workplace policies. The company should make a genuine attempt in this direction because the consumers are rationale enough to see the difference between lip service and actual action. In above cases, the femvertising shall be more effectively perceived by consumers.

4.4 Limitations of the study

The study is primarily concerned with Always femvertising campaign, #LikeAGirl campaign. It is one of successful campaign with a strong message of female empowerment for the audience. Always is a female centric brand, which has gained mass traction for its women friendly initiatives. There are a lot of other brands which have tried their hands at this type of advertising, but were not able to make a significant impact like Always. One of the examples of such brand is Verizon, which had an unsuccessful attempt at femvertising.

Verizon's "#Inspire her mind" did not acclaim the success as a female empowerment ad. It actually stereotyped the girls in the commercial. It started with a girl who is showing curiosity in the marine life but her father stopped her to do this. Then there is another girl who is helping her brother in making a heavy object like a rocket. She is having a drilling machine in her hand and doing the drilling in the object but her father told her not to do this it's not your job, let her brother do this, later Verizon shows a teenage girl who is looking at a poster which says 10th annual science fair. But she actually not seeing it instead she used the display case glass as a mirror to put on her lipstick. And finally, commercial displays that 66% of 4th grade girls say they like science and math but only 18% of all college engineering majors are female. It somewhere conveys that girls can be 'pretty' but not 'pretty brilliant'.

Firstly, the ad showcased misleading facts. They said that only 18% of girls graduate with the science and math degree which is completely false. Today, girls earn 44% of college math degrees, more than 40% of chemistry degrees and about 61 percent of biology degrees. Even the very first girl shown in the commercial is showing interest in the marine biology but her curiosity is squelched by her father. But the fact is that today about girls earn 64 percent of college degrees in marine biology.

This campaign was criticized by many feminists saying that Verizon should stop displaying the phoney data. This commercial is not inspiring and it is somewhere conveying the message that science is masculine. There are many examples where girls have outnumbered the boys in many science and technological fairs. The winners of Google's first-ever science fair were girls. The ad

was showing that girls cannot focus on science and math if they do all the conventional girls things (dress like princesses, playing with doll house, make-up, pretty clothes). It is showing that these things are the obstacles to girls' science career. That is not the proved thing. Girls can be girly as well as smart, ambitious and scientists too. So, the campaign '#Inspire Her Mind' was an unsuccessful attempt by the company to promote its services. The study fails to capture these unsuccessful instances of femvertising.

Also, the study is limited to only one femvertising campaign, i.e., the Always campaign and it does not include other femvertising campaign like Dove Real Beauty Campaign, etc. There are many other femvertising campaigns which could have been taken into consideration. Additionally, the sample size of respondents is limited to around 100 people, which is a relatively small number. The majority of respondents are students while people of variety of occupations can be catered for this research so as to get more concrete results of the study.

Chapter 5 CONCLUSION

The results of the research throw light on some of the critical conclusions. Femvertising messages are generally seen in a positive light as they are liked by majority of respondents while at the same time, they do feel the need of similar ads for empowerment of male counterparts. Also, there is a strong correlation between the company getting its hands dirty in femvertising and the femvertising message. This is the reason that respondents feel that if Dove, a female centric brand, will create a similar ad, it will have a similar impact on people. While, if Toyota/Hyundai would make such ad, they would have less impact as compared to the Always ad. Also, the respondents strongly feel that these ads can bring some positive attitude change in the people. Lastly, according to this research, the ad has put the Always brand in a positive light but it has not really increased their chances of buying products from this company.

A variety of emotions are evoked, whenever consumers are exposed to any advertisement. But, only some handful emotions decide the fate of any advertisement that whether it will be successful to garner the intended reach or not. These include positive emotions like warmth, happiness, hilarity, surprise as well as negative emotions like confusion, contempt, disgust and anger. Personality of an individual also affects the way femvertising is perceived by him. Self-concept, i.e., the beliefs and attitudes that one hold about oneself, shapes one's personality. This self concept varies with self-location, which can be either private or public as well as self-focus which can be actual or ideal. The advertising, which relates more positively to one's self concept, is more likely to make an impact on him.

Some consumers carry self-consistency motive such that they want to maintain their selfconcept. While others are directed towards self-esteem motive such that they want to enhance their self-concept. Advertisers want their consumers to be able to recall their brands as well as evaluate them favorably. These two tasks are somewhat different as the first one makes use of self-consistency and actual self concept, while the latter focuses on self-esteem and ideal self concept. Consumers will be able to recall a brand, when its advertisement matches with its actual self-concept. Additionally, they will see a brand in positive light when the advertisement tries to fill the gap between actual self-concept and ideal self-concept. Femvertising usually falls under the second category of ads which try to enhance the self-esteem of women by catering to their ideal self concept.

Consumers need for emotion also affect the effectiveness of femvertising messages among different consumers. It caters to the tendency of consumers to seek out emotional situations, enjoy emotional stimuli and exhibit a preference to use emotion in interacting with outside world. Individuals, who are more likely to prefer informative stimuli than emotional stimuli, will not be persuaded by femvertising messages. Yet, emotional response to any ad is highly significant in developing impact over consumers. Research suggests that Individual need for emotion influences their attitude towards femvertising such that higher the need, better the influence on attitude.

REFERENCES

Sara Rosengren-Nina A° kestam-Micael Dahlen (2017). Advertising "like a girl": Toward a better understanding of "femvertising" and its effects. *Psychology & Marketing: Wiley*

Deepa Kapoor & Alka Munjal (2017). Self-consciousness and emotions driving femvertising: A path analysis of women's attitude towards femvertising, forwarding intention and purchase intention. *Journal of Marketing Communications*

Cristina Dans(2018). Commodity Feminism Today: An Analysis of the "Always #LikeAGirl" Campaign. *Research Repository, West Virginia University*.

Mina Lee, Hye Jin Yoon(2020). When Brand Activism Advertising Campaign Goes Viral: An Analysis of Always #LikeAGirl Video Networks on YouTube. *International Journal of Advanced Culture Technology Vol.8 No.2 146-158 (2020)*

Banet---Weiser, S. (2004). Girls rule! Gender, feminism, and Nickelodeon. *Critical Studies inMedia Communication*, 21(2), 119-139.

Oct, 2015. Always #LikeAGirl: Turning an Insult into a Confidence Movement. Always.com

Oct 12, 2015. Case Study: Always #LikeAGirl. Campaignlive.co.uk. Retrieved from https://www.campaignlive.co.uk/article/case-study-always-likeagirl/1366870

Arthurs, J. (2003). Sex and the City and consumer culture: Remediating postfeminist drama. *Feminist Media Studies*, *3*(1), 83-98.

Baxter, A. (2015). Faux activism in recent female-empowering advertising. *Elon Journal* of Undergraduate Research in Communications, 6(1), 1-3.
Becker-Olsen, K. L., Cudmore, B. A., & Hill, R. P. (2006). The impact of perceived corporatesocial responsibility on consumer behavior. *Journal of Business Research*, *59*(1), 46-53.

Berger, P., & Luckmann, T. (1966). The social construction of reality: A treatise in the sociology of knowledge.*Garden City, NY: Anchor Books*.

Bloom, P. N., Hussein, P. Y., & Szykman, L. R. (1997). The benefits of corporate social marketing initiatives. In M. E. Goldberg, M. Fishbein, and S. E., Middlestadt (eds.), *Social marketing: Theoretical and practical perspectives* (pp. 313-331).

Mahwah, NJ:Lawrence Erlbaum.Brown, T. J., & Dacin, P. A. (1997). The company and the product: Corporate associations and consumer product responses. *Journal of Marketing*, *61*(1), 68-84.

Busby, L. J., & Leichty, G. (1993). Feminism and advertising in traditional and nontraditional women's magazines 1950s-1980s. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 70(2), 247-264.

Calder, B. J. (1977). Focus groups and the nature of qualitative marketing research. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *14*(3), 353-364.

Castillo, M. (2014, October 10). These stats prove femvertising works. *Adweek.com*. Retrieved from http://www.adweek.com/news/technology/these-stats-prove-femvertising-works-160704.

Chandler, D., & Werther, W. B. (2014). *Strategic corporate social responsibility: Stakeholders, globalization, and sustainable value creation.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Dan, A. (2016, January 27). Will this shocking video stop sexist ads that objectify women? *Linkedin.com/Pulse*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/shocking-videostop-sexist-ads-objectify-women-avi-dan</u>

Skeggs, B. (1994). Changing Cultures: Feminism, Youth and Consumerism. Feminist Review,47(1), 105-106. doi:10.1057/fr.1994.30

Abitbol A., (2016). You Act Like A Girl: An Examination of Consumer Perception of Femvertising. Quarterly Review of Business Disciplines, 3(2), 117-138.

Martensen, Anne, and Jan Mouritsen. 2014. "How Ad-talk and Word-of-Mouth Influence Consumers' Responses." *Innovative Marketing* 10 (2): 58–69.

Marquis, M. 1998. "Self-consciousness Disposition Sheds Light on Consumers' Reactions to Waiting." *NA-Advances in Consumer Research* 25: 544–550.

Marquis, Marie, and Pierre Filiatrault. 2003. "Public Self-consciousness Disposition Effect on Reactions to Waiting in Line." *Journal of Consumer Behaviour* 2 (3): 212–231.

Matzler, Kurt, Rita Faullant, Birgit Renzl, and Verena Leiter. 2005. "The Relationship Between Personality Traits (Extraversion and Neuroticism), Emotions and Customer Self-satisfaction." *Innovative Marketing* 1 (2): 32–39.

McArthur, Leslie Zebrowitz, and Beth Gabrielle Resko. 1975. "The Portrayal of Men and Women in American Television Commercials." *The Journal of Social Psychology* 97 (2): 209–220.

Meenaghan, Tony. 1995. "The Role of Advertising in Brand Image Development." *Journal of Product & Brand Management* 4 (4): 23–34.

Mehta, Abhilasha. 2000. "Advertising Attitudes and Advertising Effectiveness." *Journal of Advertising Research* 40 (3): 67–72.

Mehta, Abhilasha, and Scott C. Purvis. 1995. "When Attitudes Towards Advertising in General Influence Advertising Success." Paper presented at Conference of the American Academy of Advertising. Waco, TX: Baylor University, Norfolk, VA. Micu, C. C., and T. G. Chowdhury. 2010. "The Effect of Ageing and Time Horizon Perspective on Consumers' Response to Promotion Versus Prevention Focus Advertisements." *International Journal of Advertising* 29 (4): 621–642.

Milner, Laura M., and James M. Collins. 2000. "Sex-role Portrayals and the Gender of Nations." *Journal of Advertising* 29 (1): 67–79.

Mitchell, Andrew A., and Jerry C. Olson. 1981. "Are Product Attribute Beliefs the Only Mediator of Advertising Effects on Brand Attitude?" *Journal of Marketing Research* 18: 318–332.

Mitchell, Vince, Jonathan E. Macklin, and Jez Paxman. 2007. "Social Uses of Advertising: An Example of Young Male Adults." *International Journal of Advertising* 26 (2): 199–222.

Moldovan, Sarit, and Donald Lehmann. 2010. "The Effect of Advertising on Word-of-Mouth." In *Advances in Consumer Research*, edited by Margaret C. Campbell, Jeff Inman and Rik Pieters, 118–121.

Duluth, MN: Association for Consumer Research. Morris, Jon D., Chongmoo Woo, James A.

Geason, and Jooyoung Kim. 2002. "The Power of Affect: Predicting Intention." Journal of

Advertising Research 42 (3): 7–17.

Murray, Peter Noel. 2013. "How Emotions Influence What We Buy." *Psychology Today*, February 26. <u>https://www.psychologytoday.com/blog/inside-the-consumer-mind/201302/how-emotionsinfluencewhat-we-buy</u>.

Nasby, William. 1989. "Private Self-consciousness, Self-awareness, and the Reliability of Self-reports." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 56 (6): 950–957.

Nyilasy, G. 2006. "Word of Mouth: What We Really Know – and What We Don't." In *Connected Marketing*, edited by J. Kirby and P. Marsden, 161–184.

London: Butterworth-Heinemann.Olney, Thomas J., Morris B. Holbrook, and Rajeev Batra. 1991. "Consumer Responses to Advertising: The Effects of Ad Content, Emotions, and Attitude toward the Ad on Viewing Time." *Journal of Consumer Research* 17 (4): 440–453.

Orth, Ulrich R., and Denisa Holancova. 2003. "Consumer Response to Sex Role Portrayals in Advertisements: Effects of Incongruity and Prejudices on Emotions and Attitudes." *Journal of Advertising* 32 (4): 77–89.

Palka, Wolfgang, Key Pousttchi, and Dietmar G. Wiedemann. 2009. "Mobile Word-of-Mouth–A Grounded Theory of Mobile Viral Marketing." *Journal of Information Technology* 24 (2): 172–185.

Phelps, Joseph E., Regina Lewis, Lynne Mobilio, David Perry, and Niranjan Raman. 2004. "Viral Marketing or Electronic Word-of-Mouth Advertising: Examining Consumer Responses and Motivations to Pass Along Email." *Journal of Advertising Research* 44 (4): 333–348.

Plutchik, R. 1997. "The Circumplex as a General Model of the Structure of Emotions and

Personality." In *Circumplex Models of Personality and Emotions*, edited by Robert Plutchik and Hope R. Conte, 17–45.

Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. Population of India. 2016. *Indiaonlinepages.com*. Accessed June 1. <u>http://www.indiaonlinepages.com/population/india-</u> <u>current-population.html</u> Raman, Niranjan V., Prithviraj Chattopadhyay, and Wayne D. Hoyer. 1995. "Do Consumers Seek Emotional Situations: The Need For Emotion Scale." *Advances in Consumer Research* 22 (1): 537–542.

Ritson, Mark, and Richard Elliott. 1999. "The Social Uses of Advertising: An Ethnographic Study of Adolescent Advertising Audiences." *Journal of Consumer Research* 26 (3): 260–277.
Roberts, R. C. 2009. "Emotional Consciousness and Personal Relationships." *Emotion Review* 1 (3): 281–288.

Robinson, Edward A. 1997. "Frogs, Bears and Orgasms: Think Zany if You Want to Reach Today's Consumers." *Fortune* 135 (11): 153–156.

Rosenberg, Morris. 1979. *Conceiving the Self*. New York, NY: Basic Books . Rucker, Derek D., and Richard E. Petty. 2008. "Emotion and Consumer Behaviour." *Kellogg Insight*, July 1. <u>https://insight.kellogg.northwestern.edu/article/emotion_and_consumer_behavior</u>.

Rybanská, Jana. 2015. "Selected Personality Characteristics as Predictors of Emotional Consumer Behaviour." *European Journal of Business Science and Technology* 1 (2): 128–136. Scheier, Michael F., and Charles S. Carver. 1985. "The Self-consciousness Scale: A Revised Version for Use with General Populations." *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 15 (8): 687–699.

Shimp, Terence A. 1981. "Attitude Toward the AD as a Mediator of Consumer Brand Choice." *Journal of Advertising* 10 (2): 9–48.

Shimp, T. A., and E. W. Stuart. 2004. "The Role of Disgust as an Emotional Mediator of Advertising Effects." *Journal of Advertising* 33 (1): 43–53.

Sirgy, M. Joseph. 1982. "Self-concept in Consumer Behavior: A Critical Review." *Journal of Consumer Research* 9 (3): 287–300.

Sirgy, M. Joseph, J. S. Johar, A. Coskun Samli, and C. B. Claiborne. 1991. "Self-congruity Versus Functional Congruity: Predictors of Consumer Behavior." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 19 (4): 363–375.

Smit, Edith G., and Peter C. Neijens. 2000. "Segmentation Based on Affinity for Advertising." *Journal of Advertising Research* 40 (4): 35–43.

Snyder, M., and K. G. DeBono. 1985. "Appeals to Image and Claims About Quality: Understanding the Psychology of Advertising." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 49 (3): 586.

Solomon, Michael R., and John Schopler. 1982. "Self-consciousness and Clothing." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 8 (3): 508–514.

Squicciarini, Anna Cinzia, and Christopher Griffin. 2012. "An Informed Model of Personal Information Release in Social Networking Sites." *Presented at International Conference on Privacy, Security, Risk and Trust and 2012 International Conference on Social Computing*, Amsterdam, September 3–5.

Thagard, P., and B. Aubie. 2008. "Emotional Consciousness: A Neural Model of How Cognitive Appraisal and Somatic Perception Interact to Produce Qualitative Experience." *Consciousness and Cognition* 17 (3): 811–834.

Theodoridis, Prokopis K., Antigone G. Kyrousi, Athina Y. Zotou, and George G. Panigyrakis. 2013. "Male and Female Attitudes Towards Stereotypical Advertisements: A Paired Country Investigation." *Corporate Communications: An International Journal* 18 (1): 135–160.

Vela, Marcelo Royo, María José Miquel Romero, and Eva Caplliure Giner. 2006. "Advertising Content as a Socialization Agent: Potential Reinforcement of Gender Stereotypes." *Esic market* 125: 81–134.

Wells, William D. 1964. "EQ, Son of EQ, and the Reaction Profile." *Journal of Marketing* 28
(4): 45–52. Whipple, Thomas W., and Alice E. Courtney. 1985. "Female Role Portrayals in Advertising and Communication Effectiveness: A Review." *Journal of Advertising* 14 (3): 4–17.

Woerndl, Maria, Savvas Papagiannidis, Michael Bourlakis, and Feng Li. 2008. "Internet-induced Marketing Techniques: Critical Factors in Viral Marketing Campaigns." *International Journal of Business Science and Applied Management* 3 (1): 33–45.

Xu, Yingjiao. 2008. "The Influence of Public Self-consciousness and Materialism on Young Consumers' Compulsive Buying." *Young Consumers* 9 (1): 37–48.

Yang, Rui. 2012. "The Influence of Public Self-consciousness on Chinese Consumer Behavior for Luxury Fashion Products: A Cultural Perspective." Accessed May 2, 2016. http://repository.lib.ncsu.edu/ir/bitstream/1840.16/7535/1/etd.pdf

Zajonc, Robert B., and Hazel Markus. 1982. "Affective and Cognitive Factors in Preferences." *Journal of Consumer Research* 9 (2): 123–131.

APPENDIX 1: Femvertising Campaigns



Exihibit 1: Dove Campaign for Real Beauty

Source: https://www.cosmeticsdesign.com/Article/2016/02/24/Dove-takes-its-Real-Beautymarketing-drive-to-India

Video Links:

Always #LikeAGirl Campaign: <u>https://youtu.be/XjJQBjWYDTs</u>

Dove Campaign for Real Beauty: <u>https://youtu.be/litXW91UauE</u>

Verizon 'Inspire her mind' campaign: <u>https://youtu.be/yND9hDpPwYA</u>

APPENDIX2: Questionnaire

People perception towards femvertising

This data is collected for a research conducted as a part of college project. All data will remain confidential and will be used for this research only.

Femvertising: It is a term used for female empowerment advertising like the Dove Real Sketches campaign or Always Like A girl campaign. Please watch this video before filling the form.

* Required

Please watch this short video before filling the form



http://youtube.com/watch?v=ylxA3o84syY

Demographic details

1. Enter your name *

2. Enter your age *

Mark only one oval.

- 010-20
- 20-30
- 30-40
- 040-50
- Above 50
- 3. Enter your gender *

Mark only one oval.

🔵 Male

🔵 Female

4. Enter your occupation *

Femvertising Message

5. Have you seen this ad before? *

Mark only one oval.

Yes

6.	Do you like this ad? *
	Mark only one oval.
	Yes, a lot
	It was average
	No, not at all
7.	What do you like most about the ad? *
	Mark only one oval.
	Close to reality
	Trying to bring change
	Female empowerment message
	I don't like the ad
8.	What do you dislike about the ad? *
	Mark only one oval.
	Don't like such ads generally
	Misquoting the reality
	No product information in the ad
	I liked the ad
9.	Do you think that we need such ads for empowerment of males too? *
9.	by you chain chec we need adone dus for empowerment of males coor

Mark only one oval.

Yes

Company
Cause Fit

The brand 'Always' (named as Whisper in India) sells female use products like sanitary napkins and wipes, etc.

10. Have you heard about this brand before?*

Mark only one oval.

\subset)	Yes
C)	No

11. Do you think if Dove has made a similar ad, it would have same impact? *

Mark only one oval.

_)	Yes.	more	or	ess	the	same
_	J.						

No, Dove would have less impact

	155				•
1 NO	Dove	would	have	more	impact
	i internet inte	T DO DO DO	1000	III MAINE	in the second

12. Do you think if Toyota, Hyundai (completely unrelated to females) have made a similar ad, it would have the same impact?

Mark only one oval.

- Yes, more or less the same
- No, they would have less impact
- No, they would have more impact

Impact of the ad

13	Do you think this ad had an impact on you? *
	Mark only one oval.
	() Yes
	○ No
14	. How do you feel after watching this ad? *
	Mark only one oval.
	Whatever shown, is absolutely true and we are somewhere wrong
	Whatever shown, is partially correct, but not the actual reality
	Whatever shown, is far away from reality
15	Do you think it will bring a change in the society? *
15	
	Mark only one oval.
	Ves, bring a huge positive change
	May be slight change
	No, people will still behave the same way
16	. Do you think that the phrase 'Like A Girl' is actually used in derogatory manner? *
	Mark only one oval.
	Yes, absolutely
	Some people do use it, that way.
	No, it's never used like that
I	Purchase Intent

17. Do you think the brand 'Always' is actually concerned about young girls? *

Mark only one oval.

C	Yes	
C	No	

18. Do you think this ad increased your chances of buying products from this brand? *

Mark only one oval.

Yes, definitely

No, not really

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.



Approval Mail:





Major_Project_Sakshi_82-word.docx May 25, 2021 8223 words / 45944 characters

Sakshi Jain

Sakshi Jain_2K19DMBA82

Sources Overview



1	iabdnet.org	2%
2	community.apg.org.uk INTERNET	<1%
3	University of Dayton on 2021-05-03 SUBMITTED WORKS	<1%
4	University of Texas, Permian Basin on 2014-11-23 SUBMITTED WORKS	<1%
5	www.tandfonline.com	<1%
6	Baylor University on 2015-04-30 SUBMITTED WORKS	<1%
7	Macquarie University on 2017-04-16 SUBMITTED WORKS	<1%
8	University of Kentucky on 2020-04-27 SUBMITTED WORKS	<1%
9	University of Southampton on 2017-08-24 SUBMITTED WORKS	<1%
10	aaaeonline.org INTERNET	<1%
11	hdl.handle.net	<1%



Georgia Southern University on 2018-06-13 SUBMITTED WORKS



Hult International Business School on 2018-02-16 SUBMITTED WORKS



Middlesex University on 2020-01-10 SUBMITTED WORKS





<1%

<1%

<1%

<1%

<1%

17	Coventry University on 2016-08-10 SUBMITTED WORKS	<1%
18	Joachim Zentes, Dirk Morschett, Hanna Schramm-Klein. "Brand personality of retailers – an analysis of its applicability and its effect CROSSREF	<1%
19	cstn.files.wordpress.com	<1%
	ed search repositories: Ione	

Excluded from Similarity Report:

- Bibliography
- Citations
- Small Matches (less than 10 words).

Excluded sources:

• None

https://dtusimilarity.turnitin.com/viewer/submissions/oid:27535:7149107/print?locale=en